GEG Working Paper 2015/99 March 2015

Managing risks, preventing crises: a political economy account of Basel III financial regulations

Jure Jeric



Managing risks, preventing crises: a political economy account of Basel III financial regulations Jure L. Jeric¹

Abstract

In the aftermath of global financial crisis, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision quickly issued a new set of global standards. However, it remains puzzling *cui bono* Basel III has been shaped. Who are the key stakeholders in the regulatory process and to which extent have their geopolitical *loci* – based on political preferences, geopolitical strategic interests and geographical positions – influenced the final shape of Basel III?

This research sheds light on these questions using a tri-level (domestic, inter-state, global arena), multi-actor approach that captures the complexity of financial regulations. Looking in depth at the net stable funding ratio, capital requirements, French-German ring-fencing *lock-in devices*, and contingent convertible bonds I show that regulatory change is the product of a constellation of interests of at least two actors, whose *loci* are not necessarily homogenous.

The Global Economic Governance Programme is directed by Ngaire Woods and has been made possible through the generous support of Old Members of University College. Its research projects are principally funded by the Ford Foundation (New York), the International Development Research Centre (Ottawa), and the MacArthur Foundation (Chicago).

¹ This paper is derived from research conducted while the author was completing an MSc in Global Governance and Diplomacy at the University of Oxford. The author has been a Michael Wills Scholar, and was awarded the Outstanding Academic Achievement Prize for his dissertation and exam performance.

I would like to thank Michael Bloomfield, Emily Jones, Alexandra Zeitz, Karolina Milewicz, and Ranjit Lall for their very helpful comments and guidance on this paper. Any errors, omissions, or misrepresentations are my own.

Table of Contents

| 1. Introduction to Basel III | 3 |
|--|----|
| 2. The need for political economy analysis of Basel III | 6 |
| 2.1 Evolution of Basel III | 6 |
| 2.2 Existing Literature: Strengths and Weaknesses | 8 |
| 3. Analytical Framework: A three-level multi-actor approach to Basel III | 10 |
| 4. A Three-Level Multi-Actor Analysis: Who benefited from Basel III? | 12 |
| 4.1 Domestic Arena | 13 |
| 4.2 Inter-state Arena | 17 |
| 4.2.1 The domestic and inter-state arenas and capital | 18 |
| requirements | |
| 4.3 Global Arena | 19 |
| 4.3.1 Bank (under)capitalisation | 22 |
| 4.4 Cross-Section of Arenas | 23 |
| 4.4.1 Contingent convertible bonds | 23 |
| 4.4.2 Ring-fencing | 24 |
| 5. Conclusion | 26 |
| References | 28 |

1. Introduction to Basel III

"Self-regulation as a way of solving all problems is finished. Laissez-faire is finished. The allpowerful market that always knows best is finished." (Nicolas Sarkozy, the former French President, 2008)

During the financial crisis (2007-2008) the world witnessed the worst economic downturn since the 1930s (Wilson and Grant, 2012; LaBrosse et al., 2013). The stock market crashed, liquidity disappeared, job losses mounted, and credit standards tightened (Mishkin, 2012). Disastrous economic and social repercussions instantly catalysed public and policy makers' attention around financial regulatory issues (Moschella and Tsingou, 2013a; Baker, 2013). Prominent public figures – including politicians, central bankers, and regulators - promptly declared a defeat of the existing regulatory regimes. As the Turner Review acknowledges (FSA, 2009), the financial crisis has questioned the existing regulatory philosophy of efficient, rationality driven financial markets. Politicians were even more explicit in their remarks. Nicolas Sarkozy's statement, quoted above, best encapsulates the extent of public backlash (Crumley, 2008).

Mario Draghi, the President of the European Central Bank, proclaimed the shortcomings of Basel II as "one of the major factors of the crisis" (Draghi, 2008). In the aftermath of the financial crisis, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (hereafter: the BCBS) developed a new accord, the "Global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems" (hereafter Basel III) (BSBC, 2010b). The aim of "the single most important financial regulatory framework in a generation" (Masters et al., 2013a) has been to address weaknesses in regulatory requirements that have catalysed the disastrous effects of the worst crisis since the Great Depression in 1930s (Wolfson and Epstein, 2013). Key features of Basel III include new worldwide liquidity and leverage standards, as well as the increase in minimum capital requirements (BIS, 2009a, 2009b, 2010b, 2010c). However, there are significant jurisdictional differences in implementation of Basel III, considering the voluntary nature of this set of regulatory standards (Young and Ho Park, 2013). The differences are mostly reflected in stringency of specific rules and their fine-tuning (e.g. capital and liquidity requirements).

Technical amendments and regulatory improvements come as no surprise; however, it is vital to recognise a big shift in the public policy domain. Public scrutiny and politicians' heavy involvement in regulatory process highlight that banking regulations have emerged as a political issue, rather than being considered purely technical/legalistic. Despite the significant changes in the banking regulatory environment more generally, most analysis of Basel III to date has neglected political economy dimensions of the banking regulations, specifically the *qui bono* question.²

Just one of the examples of political drivers in the regulatory process is timing of changes. In a two-year period the BCBS managed to reach an agreement regarding Basel III, in comparison to Basel II that took almost a decade to materialise in the shape of a formal accord.

Classic theories of regulations derive their explanatory power from observing conflicting

² The key theoretical contributions are discussed in the 2b.

interests between lobbyists, who defend the interests of the banking industry, and regulators, whose main goal is to protect public interest. However, this is an over-simplification because we have to recognise and understand the complex socio-economic reality in which (banking) regulations are negotiated and implemented. More specifically, it is essential to recognise that institutional reform is the product of multiple actors operating at three levels: the domestic arena, the inter-state arena and the global arena.

Despite a prompt and globally cooperative policy reaction, it remains puzzling *cui bono* Basel III has been shaped. Who are the key stakeholders in the regulatory process and to which extent have their geopolitical *loci* – based on political preferences, geopolitical strategic interests and geographical positions - influenced the final shape of Basel III? How can the geopolitical *loci* account for cross-jurisdictional differences in implementation of the Basel III rules?

This research attempts to shed light on these questions by using a tri-level, multi-actor approach capable of capturing complexity of financial regulations. I analyse core features of Basel III, including capital buffers, contingent capital, the net stable funding ratio (hereafter: NSFR), and liquidity requirements, and show that financial regulations are not a zero-sum game but rather a product of complex power dynamics. In a nutshell, the domestic arena provides a political realm for internal power dynamics, which consequently shape national interests that are then reflected and confronted in the inter-state arena. Further, the global arena offers a political space for multiple key actors to exercise their power in order to achieve the outcome that is most closely aligned with their respective *locus*. Finally, in order for a certain regulatory change to materialise, it has to be a product of constellation of interests of actors, whose *loci* are not necessarily homogenous. In other words, despite initially heterogeneous interests and *loci*, actors are likely to pursue policies that would result in mutually beneficial outcomes.

The paper analyses power dynamics with a particular focus on geopolitical preferences of the key agents involved in the regulatory process of Basel III. Further, inspired by new empirical data, this research offers an important analysis of widely neglected segments of Basel III. I discuss the NSFR in context of financial institutions' ring fencing and Franco-German *lock in devices*. I also shed light on convertible contingent bonds as new, post-crisis developed financial assets.

This paper draws on Mattli and Woods' (2009) theory of global regulations. I argue that we need to pay particular attention to the geopolitical preferences of the 'demand side' agents, such as diverging interests of the banking industry, and the need for conceiving of 'institutional supply' as dynamic rather than static given the *modus operandi* of international regulators, who are both self-reflexive and receptive to constructive feedback. I also highlight the role of investors as key stakeholders in the regulatory process.

My tri-level approach draws on Helleiner and Pagliari's (2011) classification of three geopolitical arenas: domestic, inter-state and global, reinforcing the importance of integrating insights from all three geopolitical realms. Understanding that three arenas are complementary rather than mutually exclusive allows for a holistic account of Basel III. Further, the *loci* are intervening variables between actors and interests as they have direct impact on the interests of respective actors. In other words, very often the same group of actors with different *loci* do not have homogenous interests.

The qualitative part of research – new empirical data obtained through elite semi-structured interviews and discourse analysis – was triangulated with the secondary, quantitative data in order verify the validity and reliability of methods employed (Newman et al., 2003; Creswell, 2003; Tashakkori and Teddlie, 2003; Lieberman, 2005; Bryman, 2006, 2007, 2008). All interviews were semi-structured. The following informants participated in the research: Adam Farkas, Executive Director of the European Banking Authority; Victoria Saporta, the Head of Prudential Policy Division Financial Stability at the Bank of England; Paul Achleitner, Chairman of Deutsche Bank; Dirk Notheis, Managing Director at Mittelstand Capital and the former CEO of Morgan Stanley Bank AG; Lisa Rabbe, the Head of Public Policy for Europe, Middle East & Africa at Credit Suisse; Georg Fahrenschon, the President of the German Savings Banks Association; Charles Haswell, the Global Head of the Financial Sector Policy at HSBC; and Richard Barfield, Director at Risk Consulting Division at PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The paper is organised as follows. The second section briefly reflects on the new requirements of Basel III and provides a critical appraisal of the current scholarly literature. The third section very briefly presents the analytical framework, a three level multi-actor approach. The fourth section employs this framework to analyse the power dynamics around Basel III. The last section concludes by suggesting future research avenues.

Two caveats are warranted. Firstly, as Basel III is still an ongoing regulatory process, this research focuses on the agenda setting, rule shaping, and implementation phases, while enforcement and compliance stages are not covered (Abbot and Snidal, 2009). Secondly, due to the socio-economic reality of the European Union and the United States being the most powerful interlocutors in global financial governance (Posner, 2009; Young, 2014), this paper focuses predominantly on Western economies, which have taken the lead in the Basel III process.

2. The need for political economy analysis of Basel III

2.1 Evolution of Basel III

The BCBS was formed in 1974 as a response to policymakers' failure to handle the liquidation of the German bank Herstatt. The aim was to provide a platform for central bankers to coordinate mutually beneficial policies. The BCBS has operated within the Bank for International Settlement, which is considered to be the world's most secretive financial institution (Lebor, 2013). The Basel Capital Accord on "International convergence of capital measurement and capital standards" (hereafter: Basel I) was signed in 1988. Considering the detrimental effects of the Latin American crisis on the G-10 banking sector, Basel I introduced capital requirements across the G-10 countries (Kapstein 1989, 1992; Simmons, 2001). The "International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards: a Revised Framework" (hereafter: Basel II) was triggered by the East Asian crises (late 1990s), and it was finally published in 2004 (Wood, 2005; Tsingou 2008; Underhill and Zhang 2008). In the aftermath of the 2008 financial crisis, the BCBS developed Basel III, whose aim has been to address weaknesses in regulatory requirements that catalysed disastrous financial meltdown (BIS, 2009a, 2009b, 2010b, 2010c).

The initial proposals by the BCBS were published in December 2009, followed by a series of public consultations open to all key stakeholders in the regulatory process. Due to time constraints, further consultation papers on refined segments of Basel III (such as countercyclical buffers or net stable funding ratios) were issued in 2010, and some of them are still open for public discussion (BIS, 2014a). The cornerstone of the latest Basel Accord was signed in December 2010, which is a record time in comparison to the previous agreements (Basel II took seven years – from the Asian crisis until 2004 - while Basel I was negotiated for six years - from the debt crisis in Latin America until 1998). Some of the Basel III rules have already been phased in, most notably the capital requirements, while all rules should be enforced by 2019 (BIS, 2010a, 2014a, 2014b).

Basel III provides for the first time a common definition of capital. 'Common Equity Tier 1' (or CET1) capital should be comprised of common shares and retained earnings, although a leeway is given for smaller financial institutions, whose balance sheets are composed differently, presenting a much smaller systematic risk (Davis Polk, 2013). It is worth highlighting that hybrid capital is temporarily tolerated, but all financial instruments created with hybrid capital as their underlying asset should be phased out by 2019. In comparison with the previous agreements, it is interesting to highlight that Basel III leaves the Basel II risk weighted assets (hereafter: RWA) approach mostly unchanged. Basel III aims to remedy the capital issue by modifying the ratio methodology, by tightening capital requirements with a view of preferring higher quality assets, and by increasing the minimum standards (Shearman and Sterling, 2011).

As Figure 1 illustrates, the minimum ratio of common equity tier 1 to RWAs has increased from 2% to 4.5%, while the tier 1 capital to RWAs has also seen an increase from 4% to 6%. Basel III has introduced three new capital cushions, namely, *capital conservation*, *discretionary countercyclical* and *G-SIBs* buffers. The first buffer raises the minimum capital ratios by 2.5% of RWAs; while the countercyclical buffer can be imposed at the discretion of national regulators at the level of 2.5% of RWAs. The third buffer aimed at G-SIBs applies to 29 banks that have been deemed systematically important on terms defined by the FSB

(FSB, 2013). It is important to highlight that historical comparison of regulatory capital ratios are not straightforward because "the new Basel III methodologies produce ratios that are lower than historic measures" (Docherty, Viort, 2013:147).

| Requirements | Under Basel II | Under Basel III |
|---|----------------|--|
| CAPITAL REQUIRMENTS | | |
| Minimum Ratio of Common Equity to RWAs | 2.00% | 4.50% |
| Minimum Tier I capital to RWAs | 4.00% | 6.00% |
| Minimum Total Capital | 8.00% | 8.00% |
| Mandatory Capital Conservation Buffers to RWAs | None | 2.50% |
| Discretionary Counter-cyclical buffer | None | 2.50% |
| Buffer for G-SIBs | None | Up to 3.50% |
| LEVERAGE REQUIRMENTS | | |
| Leverage Ratio | None | 3.00% |
| LIQUIDITY REQUIRMENTS | | |
| Minimum Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) | None | Sufficient high-quality liquid assets to cover bank's total net cash outflows over 30 days |
| Minimum Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) | None | 20-100% |

 Table 1 – Comparison of regulatory standards (BIS, 2009a, 2009b, 2010b, 2010c)

Basel III has also introduced leverage and liquidity requirements for the first time. As per Table 1, the leverage ratio is at the level of 3% and it will become mandatory in 2018; while distant implementation dates apply to the two liquidity measures as well: the net stable funding ratio (hereafter: NSFR) and the liquidity coverage ratio (hereafter: LCR). The phase in period for the former starts in 2018, while the disclosure requirements for the latter start next year, with a phase-in period to 2019 (BIS, 2014a). The LCR requires financial institutions to hold enough liquid assets, which can easily be liquidated in the capital markets, in order to pass 30-day stress tests. The NSFR should "reduce maturity mismatches between the asset and liability parts of the balance sheet and thereby reduce funding risk" (Shearman and Sterling, 2014:1).

At this point it is important to highlight that despite general support for more stringent regulations, all features of Basel III have been heatedly debated. Some of the most contested features are the level of the capital adequacy ratio, preserved A-IRB approach to risk weighting, and phase-in timescale for new measures (Admati and Hellwig, 2013; Lall, 2014; Jones, 2014). Financial regulations have significant impact on distributional effects, and it is essential to analyse the geopolitical *loci* of multiple stakeholders in order to understand the final outcome of Basel III.

2.2 Existing Literature: Strengths and Weaknesses

Basel III has attracted a vast amount of academic and public interest. Legal and economic scholars have predominantly focused on the short-term and long-term effects of more stringent regulations on economic growth, calibration of specific regulatory measures, and the financial impact on the banking institutions. However, there is a limited scholarship on the political dimensions of, and the power dynamics around, the most important regulatory framework since the financial crisis.

The current literature on the politics of recent financial regulation can be grouped into three broad approaches. The first school of thought views the lobbying power and monetary resources of international financial institutions as the key explanatory variable in understanding the current shape of Basel III (Lall, 2012, 2014; Admati and Hellwig, 2013). These scholars provide a careful analysis of the constellation of interests, lobbying strategies and bargaining power of financial institutions. The consensual view is that the banking lobbies have adversely impacted the regulatory changes. The banking lobbies' power is reflected in watering down of regulations and prolonging the timing of their implementation. However a common and problematic assumption is that all global banks have a uniform agenda. This overlooks the divergent geographical interests and fundamental differences in the modus operandi of financial institutions and their relationship with national economies. Representatives from the same global group of actors are very likely to have at least to a certain extent different country/region specific interests regarding regulation. Some of the examples are how different levels of capitalisation and financialisation of global banks impact their optimal regulatory strategies (Young and Ho Park, 2013), or attempts to install lock in devices when it comes to ring-fencing and the NSFR. Moreover, focusing on a limited set of actors (banking lobbies and their interactions with regulators) fails to account for important aspects of Basel III. In particular, it is vital to capture power dynamics of regulators, policymakers, private sector entrepreneurs, lobbying groups and investors across the three arenas, which highlights heterogeneity of their interests.

There are opposing views on the extent to which financial institutions really influence regulatory outcomes, rather than just having access to the regulatory process, financial resources and technical expertise. Young's (2012) analysis clearly demonstrates that financial institutions' lobbying paid off in terms of shaping the agenda, but their access did not necessarily translate into influence over the content of the Basel Accords. In other words, although the lobby groups are certainly one of the key agents in the regulatory process, their wide participation and significant resources on some occasions remain insufficient for capturing the final shape of Basel III. The empirical analyses of divergent interests within the banking industry, different national interests and incentive structures for regulators will highlight the necessity to observe a wider set of actors and their power dynamics across the three *loci* levels.

Other scholars stress the importance of new ideas as the key catalyst of regulatory changes. According to Baker (2010, 2013), a broad macroprudential consensus has penetrated into the regulatory agenda since the financial crisis. The macroprudential regulatory system is a top-down approach to regulation that seeks to maintain financial stability through countercyclical interventions by directly influencing the commercial activities of private institutions with the aim of restraining asset price shocks. More specifically, Basel III has been informed by this new understanding of policy objectives, and, therefore, it directly challenges the view of Fama's efficient markets (1970), the overreliance on the internal models of banks and other forms of self- regulation.

With a similar constructivist approach, Porter (2011) analyses Basel III as a case study on global cooperation and strengthening of international regulatory regimes. His research concludes that Basel III promotes public rather than private interests because new standards are being pursued in a functional mode rather than driven by nationally oriented bargains. However, this interpretation of Basel III significantly underestimates both national interests and important lobbying power of global actors.

Porter develops another account in collaboration with Campbell-Verduyn (2014) as they build on the idea of experimentalist governance (Sabel, Zeitlin, 2010). Campbell-Verduyn and Porter conclude that the informality and ongoing regulatory modifications at the BCBS are a good match for EU experimentalism "because enactment legislation further ties the two processes to one another".

Although both arguments provide important analyses of how new ideas emerge, the ideational shifts in policy discourse and *modus operandi* they advocate for seem to be overemphasised. It is not very clear how the ideas materialise and more importantly in whose interest it is to capitalise on these ideas. A successful, public-interest regulatory change is certainly more likely when new ideas provide a support for such reforms. However, that is only one of the elements of a complex regulatory equation. In other words, it is essential to identify and evaluate the power dynamics of different agents who have capitalised on those ideational changes.

When it comes to direct contributions of the comparative political economy account in comprehending Basel III, focusing on intergovernmental politics in the European Union (Howarth and Quaglia, 2013; Buckley, et al., 2012) provides a sophisticated understanding of divergent national interests that influence the final shape of the European and consequently the global regulatory agenda. The emphasis on multiple national interests within the European Union represents an important step in understanding the key stakeholders and divergent interests, but more attention has to be paid to domestic dynamics, which are equally important for depicting a full picture of regulatory changes.

There is a need to move beyond the most powerful European trio of Germany-France-UK, and analyse countries such as Switzerland and Sweden, which represent striking examples of regulatory stringency. Why have some countries progressed more in financial regulations than others? How to account for differences in the further tightening of regulations? Finally, any understanding of Basel III regulations is not complete without a thorough analysis of the interests of the United States, which is a major player in financial global governance alongside the European Union (Posner, 2009; Young, 2014).

This research builds on previous analyses and seeks to address shortcomings in the literature by adopting a three-level approach, which also takes into consideration the geo-political identity of key actors, and ways this affects interests. The theoretical framework is a move towards a more sophisticated, tri-level, multi-actor approach that is capable of capturing the complexity of financial regulations. In other words, financial regulations are not a zero-sum game because nuanced relations and power dynamics among multiple actors significantly influence the final shape of regulations, which are almost never fully (dis)advantageous for a certain set of agents.

3. Analytical Framework: A three-level multi-actor approach to Basel III

The analytical framework is inspired by Mattli and Woods' (2009) work on the politics of global regulations that outlines broad conditions under which global rulemaking will occur: institutional supply on the one hand, and demand (information, interests - actors, and ideas) on the other. The most important elements for explaining the current shape and scope of Basel III are actors and interests. For the analysis of Basel III it is helpful to enhance the theoretical framework in two ways. First, institutional supply is not static but rather dependent or at least responsive to the dynamics of the demand side. Basel III is an ongoing regulatory process, and technocrats from the BCBS are both self-reflexive and receptive to feedback from the demand side actors. In other words, it is necessary to introduce the dynamic perspective of the supply side. Just as an illustration, the calibration of leverage ratio framework and disclosure requirements" were published in January 2014 (BIS, 2014c), whilst further amendments are possible until 2017.

Second, in addition to the equilibrium of institutional supply and demand, the final regulatory outcome will vary dependent on *loci* - political preferences, geopolitical strategic interests and geographical positions - of the various actors involved in the regulatory process, usually the demand side agents.

The classification of political arenas in regulatory governance used by Helleiner and Pagliari (2010) can be extended as a relevant categorisation of *loci:* domestic, inter-state and global. The domestic arena questions the idea of dominant national interests and seeks to identify the driving forces behind national policies. The inter-national arena is preoccupied with power dynamics among states and the extent of cooperation in the case of similar *loci*. Finally, the global arena does not focus on the power and preferences of the leading states but rather on the significance of the global context in which states interact, as well as the influence of non-state actors. Global technocrats, international institutions and the financial institutions with a global footprint (both banks and investors) are the major actors in this arena, whose interests are hardly shaped by specificities of a single country, but rather dependent on global changes.

Although observing three levels of geopolitical *loci* brings another layer of complexity to understanding regulatory changes, this helps us to capture the roots of national/regional divergences and the ways they feed back to the global political arena.

Based on the theoretical building blocks of the multiple actors, three political arenas and supply-demand model, this paper highlights that regulatory change is a product of constellation of interests of actors, whose *loci* are not necessarily homogenous. More specifically, the domestic *locus* contextualises the political realm of internal power dynamics, where national interests are shaped. The inter-state *locus* problematizes how domestically shaped interests are reflected and confronted in the inter-state arena while the *global locus* is focused on the political space where multiple key actors exercise their power with a view of achieving the optimal outcome relative to their respective interests.

The concept of *loci* emphasises the importance of distinguishing between similar groups of actors, who are very often misleadingly understood as a single unit. As it stems from the empirical analyses, the same group of actors (e.g. international financial institutions or national governments) very often do not have the same *loci*, which helps understand why their interests might be diverging. In other words, the concept of *loci* is the intervening variable between actors and interests.

The prevalent understanding of financial regulations was grounded in the over-simplified notion that one actor can predominantly influence the regulatory processes. This approach neglects the complexity of financial regulations, which are elaborated in the empirical section. This paper advocates that for a creation of any regulatory change, it has to be motivated by a constellation of interests of at least two actors, whose *loci* are often not homogenous. It is important to underscore the constellation of interests needed for a change due to multiple actors involved in the regulatory process. From the theoretical perspective, a single actor (or group of actors) can be the most prominent advocate of a certain regulatory outcome; however, in order for the change to materialise, it is necessary that one more actor has an overlapping interest.

Multiple Actors

•(Mattli and Woods, 2009)

- •STARTING POINT:
- Institutional supply
- •Demand side agents:
- NGO entrepreneurs
- Public officials
- •Private sector entrepreneurs:
- Corporations at
- •Corporations at risk
- Corporate levellers

•THEORETICAL INNOVATION:

- Investors as an important private sector entrepreneurs
- •Equivalent veto players (Moshella and Tsingou, 2013)

Supply - Demand Initial Equilibrium

- •(Mattli and Woods, 2009)
- •STARTING POINT:
- Institutional supply; and
- •Demand:
- •information,
- interests actors, andideas
- •THEORETICAL INNOVATION:
- dynamising supply
- •equilibrium dependent on *loci* and power dynamics within/between 3 political arenas

3 Political Arenas - Loci

•(Helleiner and Pagliari, 2011)

•STARTING POINT:

- •Classification of political arenas
- •Domestic
- Inter-state
- Global
- •THEORETICAL INNOVATION:
- •Loci of specific actors based on
- political preferences,
- geopolitical strategic interests, and
- geographical positions
- •Complementary nature of arenas

Figure 2: Analytical Framework

4. A Three-Level Multi-Actor Analysis: Who benefited from Basel III?

"Global banks are global in life and national in death"

(Sir Mervyn King, the former Governor of the Bank of England, 2009)

| Locus | Actor | Interest | Regulatory Preferences |
|----------------------------|---|--|--|
| Domestic | Domestic regulators in countries where economies are heavily reliant on G-SIBs (e.g. the UK, Switzerland, the USA) | Domestic financial stability; Prevention of misconduct in the financial sector; Mitigation of possible reputational losses | Very stringent regulations (e.g. high capital requirements and additional buffers for G- SIBs) |
| Domestic | Domestic regulators in countries with fewer G- SIBs (e.g. Germany, France) | Domestic financial stability; Prevention of misconduct in the financial sector; Mitigation of possible reputational losses | Stringent regulations that would not compromise the competitiveness of the economy (e.g. support for cocos) |
| Domestic / Inter- state | The state / government officials (elected politicians and policy- makers) in economies where total bank assets' are significantly higher than national GDP (e.g. the UK, Switzerland, Sweden) | Economic growth and stability; Competitiveness of the domestic regulatory system achieved through the 'level playing field' approach | More stringent regulations (high capital requirements, introduction of the NSFR) |
| Domestic / Inter- state | The state / government officials (elected politicians and policy- makers) in economies where total bank assets' are at par or lower than national GDP (e.g. Germany, Italy); or the banking sector is poorly capitalised (e.g. France) | Economic growth and stability; Competitiveness of the economy | More lax regulations (not overly high capital requirements; further prolongation of the phase-in period; relaxing the NSFR) |
| Inter- state/Global | Regional regulators (e.g. the European Banking Authority) | Financial stability, harmonisation of standards across the region | Stringent regulations that would be applied to all member states within the specific region |

| Domestic / Global | Lobbying groups representing regional banks (e.g. the German Savings Banks Association) | Protection of the interests of their members | Lax regulations (e.g. differentiation of regulatory standards for different financial institutions) |
|--------------------------------------|---|---|---|
| Domestic/Global | Lobbying groups representing G-SIBs (e.g. the Institute of International Finance) | Protection of the interests of their members | Lax and watering down of regulations (e.g. level playing field, avoidance of regulatory arbitrage) |
| Global (Domestic/Inter- state) | Investors | Financial stability; High returns on investment; Transparency of the banking industry | Regulations that will achieve financial stability (as a caveat - there are also more niche investors; such as hedge funds and proprietary shops, which might have different preferences) |
| Global | G20, the Financial Stability Board | Resilience of the global financial system and avoidance of future disruptions | Very stringent regulations (not very precise technical details) |
| Global | The Bank of International Settlement - the Basel Committee | Resilience of the global financial system and avoidance of future disruptions; Mitigation of possible reputational losses; Creation of minimum standards that would apply across all markets | Very stringent regulations achieved through compromises of the main actors involved (high capital and liquidity standards) |

4.1 Domestic Arena

Although the disastrous socio-political effects of the financial crisis started seven years ago, the professional and academic audiences still heatedly debate some of the fundamental features of the worst economic slowdown since the Great Depression of the 1930s (Gamble, 2009; Germain, 2012). However, Mervyn King's famous observations that "global banks are global in life and national in death" (2009) remains uncontested. The government bailouts of

some of the major national banks, such as the Royal Bank of Scotland and Lloyds in the United Kingdom (Martin, 2013), the American International Group in the USA, or the BFA Bankia in Spain (Gordon, 2012), serve as strong reminders of the dependence of national economies on the banking sector, and *vice versa*. For understanding domestic dynamics in relation to regulatory changes, it is essential to observe banking models and how they correspond to the health of national economies. A healthy and sustainable financial sector is a precondition for economic prosperity and growth (Levine, 2005; Mishkin, 2012). Thus, governments rely on regulations as a way of resolving the trade-off between having a robust financial infrastructure and the system that will catalyse money creation and growth. In other words, governments create and adopt regulatory policies with a view of balancing private and public interests (Oatley and Winecoff, 2011).

| Country | Domestic GDP (\$bn) | Total Bank Assets of Publically Listed Banks (\$bn) | Total Assets % of GDP |
|-------------|------------------------|--|--------------------------|
| France | 2609 | 7660 | 293.60 |
| Germany | 3401 | 3330 | 97.91 |
| Italy | 2015 | 3170 | 157.32 |
| Japan | 5964 | 10100 | 169.35 |
| Spain | 1352 | 3910 | 289.20 |
| Sweden | 526 | 1980 | 376.43 |
| Switzerland | 632 | 3140 | 496.84 |
| UK | 2441 | 8820 | 361.33 |
| USA | 15685 | 11580 | 73.83 |

Figure 3 – Total Bank Assets as % of Domestic GDP (Bloomberg, 2014; IMF, 2014; compiled by the author)

One of the most useful measures for understanding a relationship between the banking sector and national economies is a ratio of total bank assets to domestic GDP (World Bank, 2005; Beck, et al., 2010).³ As a rule of thumb, regulatory requirements are very likely to be stricter where banks are large relative to the national economy and therefore pose higher risk for the health of economy. Governments with economies where total bank assets are significantly higher than the domestic GDP (e.g. Switzerland, Sweden and the UK, see Figure 3) are prominent advocates of more stringent regulations. Considering that Switzerland's banking assets are five times the size of the country's GDP, it comes as no surprise that the Swiss have adopted the most stringent regulations (Bono et al., 2012) or the 'super-equivalent' approach (BCBS, 2013). Domestic regulators require the Swiss banks Credit Suisse and UBS to hold capital equivalent to 19% of Basel III RWA, based on their size and market position. Of these, 10% must be common equity Tier 1 capital, while an additional 9% may include contingent capital (Swiss Commission of experts for limiting the economic risks posed by large companies, 2010). This compares with the 4.5% minimum common equity capital ratio, and 10.5% minimum total capital levels including the conservation buffer. The institutions of the similar size and global scope as Credit Suisse or

³ A banks' book value of equity over GDP can also be a useful measure (Dermine, 2000; Dermine and Schoenmaker, 2010). However, the adopted measurement is more often used both in academia and industry (see Schoenmaker and Werkhoven, 2012).

UBS would also be a subject to further at least 2.5% capital requirements, known as G-SIB buffers (FSB, 2013). Furthermore, the Swiss were the first to adopt some form of a countercyclical buffer, approved in February, which became applicable in September 2013 (SNB, 2012; SNB, 2013). Such regulatory reasoning is further supported by the fact that both major Swiss banks are at least 1.5 times bigger than total domestic GDP (UBS 175.79%, and Credit Suisse 157.12%, respectively).

A similar approach to domestic regulations has been adopted by Swedish regulators (Jones, 2011), who require Sweden's four largest banks (Nordea Bank, Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken, Svenska Handelsbanken, and Swedbank) to hold at least 10% core Tier 1 capital of their RWA, with an increase to no less than 12% by 2015 (Sveriges Riksbank, 2011). That compares with Basel III's 8% minimum total capital requirement by 2019, which should consist of minimum 6% core Tier 1 capital and 4.5% of common capital ratio. Even higher minimum standards apply to some European (and beyond) banks that are considered globally systematically important (BCBS, 2010a, 2010b, 2014a). These figures are lower than the ones for the aforementioned Swiss banks because the Swedish 'big fours' are not considered G-SIBs (FSB, 2013). Despite some domestic noises about competitive disadvantage for domestic banks, the Sveriges Riksbank (the Swedish Central Bank) pointed to investors' confidence and systemic financial stability as important factors driving the decision to enforce more stringent capital requirements (Levring and Carlstrom, 2013). At the same level of having the banking assets at least 3.5 times bigger than domestic GDP, the United Kingdom is the third European advocate for more stringent regulations, and certainly the most powerful one due to its historical role and the current financial significance of London (Walter, 2008; Mugge, 2014). Not surprisingly, as per Figure 4 two major UK banks -HSBC and Barclays - are together almost twice the size of the British GDP, 112.99% and 69.97% respectively.

More generally, highly internationalised banks have always dominated the British financial industry (Quaglia, 2014) and in light of recent government interventions, British banking system has also been well capitalised. Unlike their British counterparts, French banks have not been well capitalised as they rely more on domestic retail banking (Hanson et al, 2011), despite the fact that some of their major banks, such as BNP Paribas, Credit Agricole and Societe Generale, have a strong international presence (interview). In other words, although the French bank assets are three times larger than domestic GDP, the levels of bank capitalisation, a strong domestic presence and a reliance on national depositors make the government more lax about new regulations.

As the theoretical concept of *loci* suggests, very similar actors (e.g. domestic regulators and state/government officials) with different *loci* have heterogeneous interests when it comes to regulatory changes. At the other end of the spectrum in comparison to the British banking model is the German system (Moschella and Tsingou, 2013b). The former is usually depicted as coordinated, while the latter is liberal-market focused. More specifically, the German banking sector has been significantly less internationalised and heavily reliant on the network of savings and mutual banks. Although Germany is home to two G-SIBs - Deutsche bank and Commerzbank – their assets taken together do not account for the total amount of the German GDP. Furthermore, all publicly listed banks in Germany do not have larger assets in comparison to the total amount of GDP. In addition, there are also thousands of undercapitalised public and small local banks that provide most of the capital to small and medium enterprises (Bryant, 2012).

A major concern among German policy makers has been that an overly rapid assault on the funding of public and savings banks would squeeze the 'Mittelstand', at the key moment when these financial institutions were able to provide additional capital and liquidity to economically shaken enterprises (Hardie and Howarth, 2013). Concerned about more stringent capital requirements, the Association of German Banks published the report in which they strongly objected to the tightening of regulations at the expense of stabilising the financial sector (AGB, 2010). Their position was based on financial calculations according to which the German banks would be forced to raise at least €98 billion of new capital, and reduce debt obligations by trillions of euros if they were to meet the new requirements. As an interesting comparison, the analysis done by Barclays Capital in 2009 indicated that the ten largest German banks would need to raise more new capital than the 35 largest American financial institutions in order to comply with the more stringent requirements (Murphy et al., 2010; Jenkins and Wilson, 2010).

Even in the pre-crisis period, American banks were required to hold as much as 50% more of Tier 1 capital in comparison to the Basel minimum in order to be meet domestic regulators' informal threshold of being well capitalized. Further, the operating definition of capital was narrower in the US in comparison with various other developed economies (Oatley, Winecoff, 2012). Comparing the banking assets ratio of the most vocal European advocates for the more stringent regulations, it is necessary to highlight that American-domiciled bank assets account only for 73.83% of the USA GDP. On the other hand, the American banks have been well capitalised but the key reasons for their regulatory stand have to be traced in relation to other economies. Thus, the deeper implications of the American regulatory push are explored in the next section.

At this point it is important to highlight the key actors involved in domestic power dynamics and how their geopolitical stands influence their regulatory preferences. When it comes to the setting domestic regulatory agenda and implementing regulations, national regulators act as demand side actors. In comparison to their global counterparts in the BCBS who set the global agenda on the supply side of the theoretical model, domestic regulators are predominantly preoccupied with national dynamics and setting national regulations. If the national regulators are involved in the direct global regulatory changes as a part of the BCBS, then they can also be considered as suppliers of regulations in the global arena. However, that happens in a very limited number of cases, and it does not seem to be directly applicable to Basel III.

National regulators' preferences do not necessarily have to be based on economic growth, but rather the resilience of the financial system. In other words, regulators are in a principal-agent relationship with respective political bodies represented by policy-makers (Singer, 2004, 2007). At this point it is worth making a distinction between regulators as technocrats and experts who work in various national regulatory agencies, and elected politicians who operate as policy-makers in a larger number of policy areas. In the event of regulators' failure to maintain the resilience of the financial infrastructure, regulators will be exposed to the risk of having to step down.

Unlike government officials and policy-makers, regulators are not particularly incentivised to promote the competitiveness of domestic industry, unless a lack of competitiveness might detrimentally affect the stability of the financial sector (Oatley and Winecoff, 2012). Furthermore, reputational pressures on regulators are another set of incentives that encourage them to implement more stringent regulations (Levgyn, 2012). Apart from policy-

makers and regulators, this section highlighted a variety of financial actors: multiple corporations at risk with divergent interests (G-SIBs and mutual/savings banks; well-capitalised and undercapitalised banks), corporate levellers of the playing field, and the investors who will be discussed more broadly in the global context.

4.2 Inter-state Arena

The global financial crisis initiated in the United States and a consequent domino effect has caused tectonic changes in the financial systems across the (developed) world (Wilson and Grant, 2012; LaBrosse et al., 2013). Considering the detrimental effects of the crisis on the American economy, the public backlash has been one of the largest, so it does not come as a surprise that American policy makers have been supportive of more stringent regulations (Wilson, 2012). However, equally, if not more importantly, achieving a higher level of resilience in the financial system in the USA has been the opportunity to tighten regulations across all major financial jurisdictions. The industry groups have been forceful in their attempts to avoid possible losses for the American banking sector.

Furthermore, the American policy makers have had significant reservations with regards putting domestic firms at a competitive disadvantage by initiating the reforms in a unilateral fashion. Analysing the American geopolitical position regarding Basel III, Oatley and Winecoff (2012) draw their conclusion based on multiple analytical examples. As an illustration, Timothy Geithner, U.S. Treasury Secretary, pointed out that the American administration's goal was to raise capital ratios in such a way as to not disadvantage American firms. In other words, it was obvious that the American financial system would hardly benefit from tightening regulations in absolute terms (Wilf, 2012). However, it was in the American national interest to utilise competitive pressures in creation of the level playing field. In other words, the American banks would find the new regulatory burdens less worrisome if their competitors were also required to meet the same standards of regulatory burden as a way of avoiding international, regulatory arbitrage. Therefore, the US government has forcefully insisted on tighter capital requirements as an integral part of Basel III.

A major American ally in the tightening of regulations has been the United Kingdom (Walter, 2008; Wilson and Grant, 2012). The financial crisis hit the UK more severely than most other EU countries, highlighting the growing reliance of British economic growth upon the financial sector prior to 2008 and the massive liability that global financial institutions pose for taxpayers and voters (Howarth and Quaglia, 2013; Quaglia, 2014). Considering the great efforts of the British government in providing liquidity to domestic banks and bailing them out, all major British banks have been much more capitalised than the European ones (Masters, 2012; Docherty and Viort, 2014). Although American and British national interests have been mostly aligned, such a coalition has not been sufficient to catalyse regulatory reforms. As Posner (2009) highlights, the central role played by the US in the realm of economic governance has been challenged by the European Union. Therefore, it is essential to understand the interstate relation in Europe, whereas the UK is just one of the important players alongside Germany and France.

4.2.1 The domestic and inter-state arenas and capital requirements

As the theoretical framework suggests, in order for a regulatory change to occur it has to be a product of constellation of interests of at least two actors. Based on the previously discussed national banking infrastructure and economic models, there has been a divide between the US and the UK on the one hand, who have pushed for regulatory changes, and Germany and France on the other, which have been more oppositional towards regulatory changes (Zimmermann, 2010). The Anglo-Saxon allies have been incentivised to exercise their power over a stricter definition of capital, which would be limited to ordinary shares; overall higher capital requirements, including additional buffers; and a shorter phase-in period. The continental countries, in particular Germany and France, wanted a broader definition of capital, including hybrids, silent participation and contingent capital, which would allow lower capital requirements. The continental allies opposed the leverage ratio, asked for modification of certain aspects of the liquidity rules and wanted a longer transition period (Quaglia, 2013). It is interesting to recognise that British policy makers, which in the past had supported a neoliberal interpretation of regulation, favoured strict new rules on capital requirements (Hodson and Mabbett 2009; Moschella and Tsingou, 2013a). By contrast, French and German policy-makers called for lax rules, which is in contradiction to their market-shaping approach to financial regulation, based on the coordinated model of national economies (Quaglia, 2010, 2014). It has been in the interest of German/French banks to have more lax regulations, particularly capital requirements as a way of protecting regional banks that are facing more difficulties in meeting more stringent rules.

As the analysis of capital requirements and definitions, for a regulatory change to occur it is necessary (but not sufficient) to have a constellation of interest of at least two actors. In this case, the Anglo-Saxon allies – the government officials from economies where total banks' assets are higher than national GDP and domestic regulators from countries where the economy is heavily reliant on G-SIBs – advocated for stricter rules. In addition, regional regulators have supported their efforts. Despite strong lobbying efforts of financial institutions and the continental government officials, the Anglo-Saxon constellation broadly prevailed.

However, it is vital to recognise that the key to any regulatory changes lies in technical details. For example, many EU policy-makers, in particular the Germans, were concerned about the ban on 'hybrid' capital, which would considerably reduce the capital base of their banks that used these and similar non-equity instruments in their calculation of common equity tier 1 capital (Allen and Overy, 2013). By contrast American and British policy makers were keen to exclude hybrids from the definition of capital. Although the Anglo-Saxon allies insisted that shareholders should take the losses for hybrids rather than the government having to cover it (Quaglia, 2013), the compromise has been reached by introducing a 10-year phase out period (BCBS, 2010b). In other words, 'hybrid' capital is tolerated but the conditions of hybrid assets are stricter. However, as Docherty and Viort (2014) highlight, the exact legal and accounting mechanism of the loss absorption is not standardised, which leaves it at the discretion of the relevant domestic regulators.

One of the major differences in the implementation of Basel III between the EU and the USA is the scope of the institutions that have to comply with the new regulations. With regards to the USA, Basel III is not applicable to savings and loan holding companies (hereafter: SLHC): particularly those with a significant engagement in insurance underwriting or non-financial activities (Davis Polk, 2013). Some banks covered by Basel III final rule will have to meet tighter requirements. For example, banks with the minimum of \$10 billion balance sheet

FX exposure or \$250 billion in consolidated assets must meet higher standards, such as a countercyclical capital buffer and a supplementary leverage ratio (Getter, 2014). Furthermore, the institutions that are considered to be G-SIBs (FSB, 2013) have to comply with the relevant legislation.

On the other hand, there is no differentiation between European banks. All 8000 European banks have to meet the same standards, while G-SIBs are subject to additional requirements. Basel III applies to internationally active banks, whereas EU legislation applies to all banks as well as investment firms in the EU (Shearman and Sterling, 2013).

Although this approach has caused many controversies and significant criticism from mutual and savings' banks, the European regulators have generally justified their position by claiming that strict numerical thresholds cannot account for differences in all European countries (interview). Many European economies are of such a limited size that their health and stability can be heavily dependent on smaller banks, whose relevance in global context is occasionally close to zero. In other words, a very small bank in the global terms can be systematically important for domestic conditions and European regulators have attempted to translate such challenge into European legislation by not allowing for any differences between financial institutions, regardless of their size and business models. Such a decision has been motivated by the regulators' tendency to create a single rulebook in the EU.

The efforts of European regulators have certainly been supported by the lobbying groups representing G-SIBs, who insisted on creation of a level-playing field in the European context. In other words, if certain financial institutions have been legally obliged to take on an additional regulatory burden, then it becomes in their interest to attempt to impose regulatory changes on all players to avoid possible arbitrage opportunities. This highlights the theoretical importance of constellation of interests of actors who certainly have heterogeneous *loci* but on this specific issue their interests have broadly overleapt.

In the empirical terms, it is important to recognise that the EU has the central role in implementing Basel III, rather than national government officials or domestic regulators, as it was the case in previous regulatory processes. This is achieved through two legislative acts, the "Capital Requirements Regulation" ("CRR") and "Capital Requirements Directive: ("CRD") (together, "CRD IV"). The CRR entered into force from January 2014 and as a regulation it is legally binding to EU member states, and it does not have to be transposed to the legal systems at the member state level (CEC 2011a, 2011b). In other words, the CRR incorporates a large portion of the Basel II, 2.5 and III framework directly into a legal instrument that applies to banks and supervisors across the EU as a whole. This superseded any pre-existing member state requirements other than in areas where national discretion has been explicitly offered in the CRR, which is very limited in scope. This is in line with EU's emphasis on creating a "single rule book". In comparison, the previous framework for Basel II had to be nationally transposed at the member state level as only the relevant directive was accepted at the EU level (Shearman and Sterling, 2013). Finally, the European Banking Authority published the Regulations, Directives and Technical Standards implementing Basel III in the EU, which are work in progress.

4.3 Global Arena

In the aftermath of the financial crisis, the G20 and the Financial Stability Board have played a pivotal role in capitalising on the public momentum and pushing for more stringent

regulations (Helleiner and Pagliari, 2011; Baker, 2014). However, the global arena represents a far more sophisticated network of actors who are trying to influence the agenda and exercise their power. Although the pre-crisis institutions have been mostly involved in the coordination of regulatory efforts, there were some attempts at institutional innovations as additional mechanisms for supporting regulatory changes. In the European context, the main institutional innovations were the establishment of the European Systematic Risk Board, and the transformation of the Lamfalussy committees into independent authorities with increased budgets and power (Quaglia, 2013). The newly created bodies are the European Banking Authority (EU Regulation No 1093/2010); the European Insurance and Occupational Pension Authority (EU Regulation No 1094/2010); and the European Securities Markets Authority (EU Regulation No 1094/2010); to take a lead in coordination of the application of supervisory standards and promotion of stronger cooperation between national supervisors within the EU.

When it comes to Basel III, the European Banking Authority has been particularly important in the calibration of new rules, their implementation across the European Union, and the conducting of stress tests. More broadly, the EBA's aim is to ensure "effective and consistent prudential regulation and supervision across the European banking sector", with a view to maintaining financial stability and safeguarding the banking industry (EU Regulation No 1093/2010; EBA, 2014).

At this stage it is important to highlight the link between national, regional and global regulators, who are most often allies in their regulatory endeavours, although diverging geopolitical *loci* can sometimes present obstacles to a more fruitful cooperation. Most broadly, regulators' efforts can be explained through three sets of incentives. Firstly, Finnemore and Sikkink refer to 'ideational commitment', where norm entrepreneurs promote ideas because they genuinely believe in them (Finnemore and Sikkink, 1998). Secondly, reputational risks present an additional motivation for endeavouring to avoid regulatory capture (Levgyn, 2012). Thirdly and most importantly, one needs to consider their professional goals of making the financial system more resilient.

Another major set of global actors is certainly industry representatives, whose role is to protect the interests of their members. In the context of Basel III, the particularly prominent groups are: the Institute of International Finance (IIF), the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA), the European Securitization Forum (ESF), the International Capital Market Association (ICMA), the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA), and the Clearing House (CH). These groups most often lobby on behalf of major financial institutions, although this certainly does not exclude banks' endeavours to exercise their power independently in the political arena. As Figure 4 illustrates, not only do global banks represent significant national actors, but also their importance is also ever increasing in the global realm. More precisely, the 20 largest banks in the world by size of their respective total assets account for 60.22% of world GDP (Bloomberg, 2014).

| Country | Bank | Bank Assets (\$bn) | Total Assets % of Domestic GDP | Total Assets % of World GDP* |
|-------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| France | BNP Paribas | 2593 | 99.39 | 3.57 |
| | Credit Agricole | 2139 | 81.99 | 2.94 |
| | Societe Generale | 1743 | 66.81 | 2.40 |
| Germany | Commerzbank | 790 | 23.23 | 1.08 |
| | Deutsche Bank | 2254 | 66.27 | 3.10 |
| Italy | Unicredit | 1166 | 57.87 | 1.60 |
| | Intesa Sanpaolo | 864 | 42.88 | 1.19 |
| Spain | Banco Santander | 1610 | 119.08 | 2.21 |
| Sweden | Nordea Bank | 849 | 161.41 | 1.17 |
| | Svenske Handelsbanken | 365 | 69.39 | 0.50 |
| | SEB | 395 | 75.10 | 0.54 |
| Switzerland | UBS | 1111 | 175.79 | 1.52 |
| | Credit Suisse | 993 | 157.12 | 1.36 |
| United | Barclays | 2272 | 93.08 | 3.12 |
| Kingdom | HSBC | 2758 | 112.99 | 3.79 |
| | Royal Bank of Scotland | 1708 | 69.97 | 2.35 |
| | Standard Charted | 637 | 26.10 | 0.88 |
| United | Bank of America ML | 2148 | 13.69 | 2.95 |
| States of | Citigroup | 1895 | 12.08 | 2.60 |
| America | JP Morgan Chase & Co | 2477 | 15.79 | 3.40 |
| | Goldman Sachs Group | 912 | 5.81 | 1.25 |
| | Morgan Stanley | 831 | 5.30 | 1.14 |
| | Wells Fargo & Co | 1547 | 9.86 | 2.13 |

Figure 4: Major global banks' total assets, bank assets to applicable national GDP, and bank assets to global GDP (Sources: Bloomberg, 2014; IMF, 2014; and official bank websites; compiled by the author)

*World GDP equals \$bn 72690.

Although the lobbying efforts of the banking industry have been considered as the dominant agent in watering down of regulations (Lall, 2012, 2014; Admati, Hellwig, 2013), it is not clear to what extent they have exclusively managed to exercise their influence on relaxing some of the features of the Basel III. There are two sets of reasons for being cautious about conclusions about their decisive power and impact. Firstly, economic reasons stress the

importance of avoiding adverse effects on lending activities. Had Basel III been fully implemented in 2010, banks would have been forced to raise €2.9 trillion in one year to meet the liquidity standards (Porter, 2011). Thus at least part of the delay in implementation could reasonably be attributed to the need not to disrupt the global financial system too severely (Williams, 2013; Getter, 2014). Furthermore, as Wilf (2012) demonstrates in her large-N study on American financial institutions, there is statistically significant evidence against regulatory capture at the point of announcing regulations, which was reflected in firms' negative stock returns associated with Basel III regulations.

More broadly, this research highlights an important lesson that financial regulations are not a zero-sum game, but rather the final outcome depends on complex power dynamics. In other words, it would be naïve not to acknowledge the interests of such a powerful industry lobby. However, it is over-simplistic to consider Basel III solely as the product of financial institutions' power. Secondly, practical reasons are also important because some of the rules have been developed from scratch so the calibration process and quantitative impact studies require significant time resources. One example to illustrate this point is the recent amendment of counter-party credit charges for a particular asset class, which were under-calibrated by the regulators and consequently were amended after the empirical analysis had been done (interview).

4.3.1 Bank (under)capitalisation

Furthermore, the current analyses of the global regulations in general, and Basel III in particular, have widely neglected the role of investors as the key agents in regulatory processes. As different jurisdictions and even individual actors within the financial industry have to compete to attract capital, complying with non-binding regulations signals their stability and strong corporate governance.

Brummer (2011, 2012) discussed the 'disciplining' effect of market forces, which incentivises states to implement non-mandatory international financial regulations, and banks to comply with those regulations. Implementing regulations lowers the costs of borrowing and facilitates transactions with other financial institutions more easily, enhancing a bank's overall competitiveness. This is particularly the case where regulatory standards are widely implemented or viewed by the international financial community as a floor (Lyngen, 2012). These arguments mostly focus on harmonisation of regulations as the incentive for more stringent rules. However, it is equally vital to understand the importance of financial stability achieved through more stringent rules, which gives reassurance to investors.

Considering the undercapitalisation of the European continental banks (Howarth and Quaglia, 2013), it is worth highlighting that banks are dependent on investors in their equity and debt issuances so there is a significant level of competition among major banks. In response to stress tests, the European banks have raised €35.5bn in capital since July 2013, according to the research by Morgan Stanley (Thompson and Ross, 2014). Nearly €26bn of the overall amount comes through equity issuance while an additional €6bn is raised through divestments, and an extra €3.7bn from unwinding carry trades.

Morgan Stanley projects up to €60bn in total capital raising as no banks wants to fall into the trap of not passing stress tests (ibid). Banks are being forced by investors to meet new regulatory standards, even before the phase-in period (Masters, 2013a). As the theoretical framework suggests, investors have increasingly become one of the relevant actors, with

either domestic or more often global *locus*, depending on their portfolio management strategies.

If the recent calls for additional transparency in banks' reporting of Pillar 2 capital requirements materialise (Masters, 2013b), it would make it more straightforward for investors to gain deeper insights and compare bank balance sheets and consequently decide on investment calls. Therefore, investors' indirect involvement in the regulatory process will be further reinforced.

4.4 Cross-Section of Arenas

4.4.1 Contingent convertible bonds

Focusing on the most recent trend of the strong proliferation of contingent convertible bonds – *cocos* – (Pantaude, 2011) can help us understand the dynamics of different actors' interests in the geopolitical, cross-sectional regulatory realm. As per the theoretical framework, regulatory changes are motivated by a constellation of interests of at least two actors, whose *loci* are not necessarily homogenous.

In their search for return on investment, investors are increasingly investing in *cocos* as their yields are significantly higher than from the other fixed income products. Revenue of contingent convertible bonds has reached €75bn in Europe during 2013 (Thompson, 2014). There is no doubt that *cocos* are lucrative investments for investors. From the regulators' perspective, the recently developed assets help bridging the capital gap of European banks, which are still having difficulties meeting the Basel III requirements (Avdjiev et al., 2013).

The *cocos* are beneficial for the banking industries for at least two reasons: generating lucrative volume revenues and meeting capital requirements (interview). For financial institution representatives, who are preparing for the regular European Central Bank stress tests, *cocos* are the most economical way of raising capital (Calomiris and Herring, 2013). The convertible contingents cost roughly half the return on equity demanded by shareholders, and interest is tax-deductible. The financial industry has certainly pushed very hard for this instrument to be recognised as a qualifying Tier 1 capital (Docherty and Viort, 2014).

However, pure banking lobbying would hardly suffice if there were no interest from the other actors involved. In other words, different actors have formed a positive constellation of interests that has resulted in a specific regulatory outcome; in this case the introduction of *cocos*.

Furthermore, the previously discussed national divergences in levels of capitalisation (Quaglia, 2013; Hardie and Howarth, 2013) can certainly highlight that some economies – particularly the ones in the continental Europe - can benefit in relative terms more from issuances of *cocos* than other economies. This reinforces the theoretical observations according to which depending on domestic affairs, governments lobby for policies that would be most beneficial or least detrimental for their economic growth and the resilience of their respective financial systems. While the key national players drive the inter-state agenda, in the global arena there are multiple other key actors (e.g. industry groups, investors, lobbying associations, regulatory organisations), who also exercise their power in order to achieve the outcome that will be most closely aligned with specific interests. In the case of *cocos* at least

three different group of actors – financial institutions, regulators and investors – have overleapt in their interests, which has resulted in the given regulatory change.

There are a couple of important empirical lessons that reinforce the initial theoretical observations. Firstly, investors' preferences and understanding of the possible outcomes of regulations should be taken seriously as they drive not only the markets but also the regulatory processes. Secondly, although European regulators might find some appeal in the *cocos* at the moment, in the long term their preferences might change. The *cocos* count as additional Tier 1 capital assets because they either convert to equity once a bank's preagreed capital threshold is triggered or simply write down the investors' principal (Avdjiev et al., 2013). However, there is growing criticism, even from inside the banking industry, that this new type of bond is extremely complex and could make a future crisis worse (Gallo, 2014). This highlights the necessity of understanding that regulators' preferences are not static and can certainly change in light of new information, as is the case already in multiple instances of calibration amendments (BIS, 2014b, 2014c).

4.4.2 Ring-fencing

Another indicative example that urges us to adopt the geopolitical, cross-sectional lens is related to the NSFR and ring fencing of financial institutions. The NSFR requires a "minimum acceptable amount of stable funding based on the liquidity characteristics of a bank's assets and activities over a one-year horizon" (Shearman and Sterling, 2014:1). However, the NSFR has received limited academic (and public) attention because it is only due to be implemented by 2018 (BIS, 2010b, 2014a).

This case study reinforces theoretical observations that domestic dynamics are reflected in inter-state power dynamics, which are further convoluted by the interests of global actors. More specifically, the continental European banks are likely to benefit in the regulatory process of ring fencing as it still remains to be seen whether the Liikanen recommendations will override national legislation.

When it is in the national or regional interest to create competitive (dis)advantages for a certain part of the industry, it is more likely that relevant regulatory measures will materialise, because for any changes to occur, it is necessary to have constellation of interests of different actors involved in the global, regulatory power dynamics. In this example, there is a constellation of interests of domestic regulators, government officials and financial institutions with the regional scope.

In September 2011, the UK's Independent Commission on Banking published the Vickers report, with a recommendation to ring fence the UK retail and trading activities of domestic banking institutions by 2019 (Independent Commission on Banking, 2011). Just over a year later, the European Commission issued the Liikanen report. The main point to take away from the report is the urgency of structural separation, with a fence being built around the trading arm (High-level Expert Group on reforming the structure of the EU banking sector, 2012). Under the Liikanen report, banks will have to comply with ring fencing if their absolute size breaches the threshold of €100 billion in trading assets, or relative volume of 15-20% of total assets.

Considering the business operations of major European banks, it is very likely that they will have to comply with the ring-fence regulations, should they become binding (Shearman and

Sullivan, 2013). In the meantime, both France and Germany have attempted to benefit from issuing their own ring-fencing plans (Thomas, 2014), which are structurally similar, but with a narrower scope in comparison to the Vickers and Liikanen reports.

In France, banking institutions will have to ring-fence their proprietary trading activities, which represents only a fraction of a typical firm's total assets (Allen and Overy, 2013). This ring-fence will also include investment and unsecured trading with hedge funds, certain high-frequency trading activities and some soft commodities trading activities. Operations within the ring-fence must be separately funded, and will have no access to insured deposits. The legislation passed through the French parliament last year, and is due to be in force by mid-2015 (Watt, 2013).

The German effort, translated into The Act on Ring-Fencing (Clifford Chance, 2013) is expected to affect around a dozen banks in the country. It also ring fences proprietary trading, and is due for implementation in mid-2015. Though the French and Germans were careful to publicly support the Liikanen report in a rare joint statement in January 2013, the wording of the statement is telling as it highlights the importance of limiting the risks associated with speculative activity, rather than the broader market-making activities Liikanen ring-fences (Joint consultation, 2013).

The key reason for the German and French *lock in devices* is the inability of their domestically domiciled banks to meet the NSFR requirements. Therefore, there has been a positive constellation of interests of domestic regulators with fewer G-SIBs, government officials in countries with undercapitalised banking sector or /and strong regional banks, and lobbying groups representing regional banks. Both French and German legislative changes would not occur if there had not been a constellation of interests from at least two different actors. For the financial institutions, new legislation allows less costly application of Basel III NSFR rules.

According to Basel III, the NSFR regulations value retail deposits particularly highly as sources of stable funding – applying a weight of 80% or 90% even to those with maturity of a year or less (BIS, 2014a). Both the Vickers and Liikanen ring fences block the trading arm from offering these products, making compliance with the NSFR extremely challenging for that side of the business. Under these circumstances, the only way to meet the NSFR standards would be for the trading arm to issue large amounts of contractual, long-dated debt, which would be very costly (Watt, 2013).

From the regulators' perspective, new legislation would be detrimental for the health of their capital markets. The government officials have been concerned about the risks of hampered economic growth as a consequence of the Vickers-Liikanen-alike ring fencing. In addition, at this point, it is worth recognising that regulators do not necessarily always have the same interests, which mirrors their background in terms of institutions or countries they monitor and supervise.

Further, in line with previous theoretical observations and empirical analyses, although the lobbying efforts of G-SIBs are usually more powerful than those of their smaller peers, the lobbying power of savings and mutual banks should not be neglected. The final regulatory outcome rather depends on the constellation of at least two actors' interests. This is a necessary condition for any regulatory change, as it has been demonstrated on the examples of capital requirements, banking sector undercapitalisation, contingent convertible bonds and ring fencing.

5. Conclusion

The aim of the research paper has been to offer nuanced empirical analyses of the political economy of Basel III, with a particular focus on the neglected variable of the geopolitical *loci*, which is an umbrella term for political preferences, geopolitical strategic interests and the geographical position of multiple stakeholders. By focusing on the geopolitical *loci* of respective actors, this research created a tri-level (domestic, inter-state, global), multi actor theoretical approach that is the most fruitful way of understanding financial regulatory complexity. Drawing on multiple features of Basel III, the research identifies and analyses the extent to which key actors, motivated by respective geopolitical *loci*, have influenced the final shape of Basel III. The adopted theoretical framework also accounts for cross-jurisdictional differences in implementation of Basel III, such as the Swiss finish, Swedish capital super-equivalence, or differentiation in national implementation based on a bank's asset size.

Further empirical contributions are a rigorous analysis of a) the convertible contingent bonds as a new financial instrument; b) the capital definitions and requirements; and c) the link between the net stable funding ratio and the most recent French-German legislative acts on ring fencing of financial institutions, which are constructed as *lock in devices*. These examples highlight an important finding: in order for a certain regulatory change to materialise it has to be a product of a constellation of interests of different actors, whose *loci* are not necessarily homogenous but do need to overlap. This theoretical observation is also supported by analysing the three *loci*, which highlights the importance of understanding a cross-section of the three geopolitical arenas.

When it comes to other theoretical contributions, the research advanced Mattli and Woods' (2009) theoretical framework by introducing the neglected concept of geopolitical preferences of the 'demand side' agents. This in turn highlighted the importance of incorporating insights from all three arenas (domestic, inter-state and global), which are complementary rather than mutually exclusive. Further, the research demonstrated the importance of *dynamising* the institutional supply of the regulatory model, as well as it introduced another key set of actors: investors.

All these contributions taken together clearly highlight the importance of cooperative communication among regulators themselves, as well as between regulators and other key actors. Increased transparency and more open forums of governance are essential in order to foster regulations that can achieve the resilience of the truly global capital markets, rather than benefit certain national or actor-specific interests. Furthermore, attempts to simplify the regulations will certainly be applauded.

At this point, it is necessary to acknowledge some of the limitations of the research. Primarily, this research could benefit from a larger follow-up study to help overcome the issues associated with sampling bias, which are somewhat inevitable due to the early phase of the project. Further, considering the complexity of Basel III, it was not possible to cover all the details of this extensive set of regulations. However, the most indicative examples were discussed in order to provide a holistic understanding of the regulatory power dynamics.

Future research would benefit from focusing more on emerging markets and developing economies, China in particular, in an attempt to understand the extent to which they contribute to financial global governance and regulatory dynamics (Posner, 2010). It still

remains to be seen how the enforcement and compliance phases (Abbot and Snidal, 2009) of Basel III will progress in order to truly materialise the new regulatory framework. Further, the European Union and the nascent Banking Union (CEC, 2014) provide a fascinating case study on financial integration, although it remains to be seen how national divergences, which have been highlighted in this research, can be reconciled in the new monetary context. More broadly, issues of cooperation in financial global governance (of regulations) represent an important intellectual challenge, and this research is a first step towards a deeper understanding of how truly globalised capital markets and financial industry can cooperate efficiently at the global level, without being jeopardised by capture-oriented actors, either national or industry-specific ones.

References

ABBOT, K. W. and SNIDAL, D. (2009) 'The governance triangle: regulatory standards institutions and the shadow of the state', 44-89 in Mattli, W. and Woods, N., (eds.) *The Politics of Global Regulation*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

ADMATI, A. and HELLWIG, M. (2013) *The Bankers' New Clothes: What's Wrong with Banking and What to Do about It,* Princeton: Princeton University Press.

ALLEN & OVERY (2013) *Tax Practice: Tax Treatment of Additional Tier 1 Capital under Basel III.* London: Allen & Overy LLP.

ASSOCIATION OF GERMAN BANKS (2010) *Position of the Association of German Banks on the Basel Committee on Bank Supervision proposals on the capital and liquidity of banks*, Bundesverband Deutscher Banken, 14 April 2010.

AVDJIEV, S., KARTASHEVA, A. and BOGDANOVA, B. (2013) *BIS Quarterly Review* – *CoCos: a primer.* BCBS.

BAKER, A. (2010) 'Restraining regulatory capture? Anglo-America, crisis politics and trajectories of change in global financial governance', *International Affairs* 86(3): 647-663.

(2013) 'The New Political Economy of the Macroprudential Ideational Shift', *New Political Economy* 18 (1): 112–139.

BARNETT, M. and DUVALL, R., (eds.) (2005) *Power in Global Governance*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

BASEL COMMITTEE OF BANKING SUPERVISION (BCBS) (2009a) 'International framework for liquidity risk measurement, standards and monitoring', December.

(2009b) 'Strengthening the resilience of the banking sector', December.

_____ (2010a) 'Countercyclical capital buffer proposal', July.

(2010b) 'Basel III: A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems', December.

_____ (2010c) 'Basel III: International framework for liquidity risk measurement, standards and monitoring', December.

(2013) 'Regulatory Consistency Assessment Programme (RCAP) Assessment of Basel III regulations – Switzerland', June.

(2014a) 'Guidance for Supervisors on Market-Based Indicators of Liquidity', January.

_____ (2014b) 'Liquidity coverage ratio disclosure standards', January (rev. March).

_____ (2014c) 'Basel III leverage ratio framework and disclosure requirements', January.

BECK, T., DEMIRGUC-KUNT, A. and LEVINE, R. (2010) 'Financial Institutions and Markets across Countries and over Time: The Updated Financial Development and Structure Database' *The World Bank Economic Review* 24(1): 77-92.

BLOOMBERG (ELECTRONIC DATABASE – TERMINAL) (2014) Data on individual banking asset size, compounded national banking asset size, and national GDPs. Available from Bloomberg Terminal, Social Science Library, Oxford University (Last accessed May).

BONO. D, ABEGGLEN, S. and WEBER, P. (2012) 'The Swiss response to the Basel III framework and other regulatory initiatives aimed at reinforcing financial sector resilience'. Available from <u>http://us.practicallaw.com/9-518-7639?q=&qp=&qo=&qe=</u> (Created 1 February 2012, last accessed 1 May).

BRAITHWAITE, J. and JENKINS, P. (2011) 'JPMorgan chief says bank rules 'anti-US', *Financial Times* 12 September.

BRYANT, C. (2012) 'A model that everyone wants', Financial Times 6 August. BRYMAN, A. (2006) 'Paradigm peace and the implications for quality', *International Journal of Social Research Methodology* 9(1): 111-126.

BRYMAN, A. (2007) 'Barriers to integrating quantitative and qualitative research', *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 1(1): 1-18.

BRYMAN, A. (2008) Social Research Methods . Oxford: Oxford University Press.

BUCKLEY, J., HOWARTH, D. and QUAGLIA, L. (2012) 'Internal market: the ongoing struggle to 'protect' Europe from its money men', *Journal of Common Market Studies, Annual Review* 48(1): 119-141.

BYRES, W. 2012. 'Basel III: Necessary, but not sufficient', *Financial Stability Institute's 6th Biennial Conference on Risk Management and Supervision*, 6 November.

CALOMIRIS, C. and HERRING, R. (2013) 'How to design a contingent convertible debt requirement that helps solve our too-big-to-fail problem' *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance* 25(2): 21–44.

CAMPBELL-VERDUYN, M. and PORTER, T. (2014) 'Experimentalism in European Union and global financial governance: interactions, contrasts, and implications', *Journal of European Public Policy* 21(3): 408-429.

CENTRAL UNIVERSITY RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE. (2014) 'Policy on the ethical conduct of research involving human participants and personal data.' Available from http://www.admin.ox.ac.uk/curec/policystatement/ (Last accessed 1 May).

(2014b) 'Best practice guidance for elite interviewing'. Available from http://www.admin.ox.ac.uk/media/global/wwwadminoxacuk/localsites/curec/documents/BPG 03_elite_interviewing_version_1_27_Feb_2014.pdf (Last accessed 1 May).

BRUMMER, C. (2011) 'How International Financial Law Works (And How It Doesn't)', *Georgetown Law Journal* 99: 257-327.

(2012 S) Soft law and the global financial system: rule making in the 21st century, New York: Cambridge University Press.

CLIFFORD CHANCE (2013) 'The German Draft Act on Ring-Fencing and on Recovery and Resolution Planning for Credit Institutions - Client Briefing' Available from <<u>http://www.cliffordchance.com/briefings/2013/04/the_german_draftactonring-fencingando.html</u>> (Last accessed 1 May).

COMMISSION OF EXPERTS FOR LIMITING THE ECONOMIC RISKS POSED BY LARGE COMPANIES (THE SWISS FEDERAL COUNCIL (2010) 'Final report of the Commission of Experts for limiting the economic risks posed by large companies', 30 September.

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES (CEC). (2011a) 'Proposal for a Directive on the access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms', 2011/452/EC, 20 July.

(2011b) 'Proposal for a Directive on the access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms', 2011/453/EC, 20 July. (2014) 'Banking union: restoring financial stability in the Eurozone', April.

COSIMANO, T. F. and HAKURA, D. S. (2011) 'Bank Behavior in Response to Basel III: A Cross-Country Analysis', IMF Working Paper, WP/11/119, IMF: Washington DC.

CRESWELL, J.W. (2003) *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches*, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

CRUMLEY, B. (2008) 'Europe's Conservatives Sour On the Free Market', Time 26 September.

MUGGE, D. (2014) 'Europe's regulatory role in post- crisis global finance', *Journal of European Public Policy* 21(3): 316-326.

DAVIS POLK (2013) 'U.S. Basel III Final Rule: Visual Memorandum' 8 July

DERMINE, J. (2000). 'Bank Mergers in Europe, the Public Policy Issues', *Journal of Common Market Studies* 38: 409-425.

DERMINE, J. and SCHOENMAKER, D. (2010), 'In Banking, Is Small Beautiful?', *Financial Markets, Institutions & Instruments* 19(1): 1-19.

EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT (2010a) 'Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a European Supervisory Authority (European Banking Authority), amending Decision No 716/2009/EC and repealing Commission Decision 2009/78/EC', 24 November.

(2010b) 'Regulation (EU) No 1094/2010 of the European Parliament And Of The Council establishing European Supervisory Authority (European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority), amending Decision No 716/2009/EC and repealing Commission decision 2009/79/EC', 24 November.

(2010c) 'Regulation (EU) No 1095/2010 of the European Parliament and of The Council establishing a European Supervisory Authority (European Securities and Markets Authority), amending Decision No 716/2009/EC and repealing Commission Decision 2009/77/EC', 24 November.

(2013) Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms, amending Directive 2002/87/EC and repealing Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC (CRD IV Directive).

DOCHERTY, A. and VIORT, F. (2014) *Better Banking: Understanding and Addressing the Failures in Risk Management, Governance and Regulation*, London: Wiley.

DRAGHI, M. (2008) 'A vision of a more resilient global economy', *Financial Times* 13 November .

DRYZEK, J. S. (2005) 'A Pox on Perestroika, A Hex on Hegemony: Toward a Critical Political Science' 509-525. in Monroe, K. R. (ed). *Perestroika! The Raucous Rebellion in Political Science,* New Haven: Yale University Press.

LIEBERMAN, E. S. (2005) 'Nested analysis as a mixed-method strategy for comparative research', *American Political Science Review*. 99(3): 435-452.

FAMA, E. F. (1970) 'Efficient Capital Markets: A Review of Theory and Empirical Work' *Journal of Finance* 25(2): 383-417.

FINANCIAL SERVICES AUTHORITY (FSA) (2009) 'The Turner Review: A regulatory response to the global banking crisis', March.

FINANCIAL STABILITY BOARD (FSB) (2013) 'Update of group of global systemically important banks (G-SIBs)', November.

FINNEMORE M. and SIKKINK, K. (1998) 'International Norm Dynamics and Political Change', *International Organization* 52(4): 887–917.

GALLO, A. (2014) 'Regulators must act on coco bond risks', *Financial Times* 7 May.

GAMBLE, A. (2009) *The Spectre at the Feast: Capitalist Crisis and the Politics of Recession*, Basingstoke: Palgrave.

GERMAIN, R. (2012) 'Governing global finance and banking', *Review of International Political Economy* 19(4): 530-535.

GETTER, D. E. (2014) 'U.S. Implementation of the Basel Capital Regulatory Framework', Congressional Research Service, April.

GOODMAN, L.A. (1961) 'Snowball sampling', *Annals of Mathematical Statistics* 32(1): 148–170.

GORDON, S. (2012) 'Bankia bailout raises bigger questions', Financial Times 7 September.

HARDIE, I. AND HOWARTH, D. (2013) 'A Peculiar Kind of Devastation: German Market-Based Banking' in Hardie, I. and Howart, D., 103-126 (eds.) *Market Based Banking and the International Financial Crisis*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

HELLEINER, E. and PAGLIARI, S. (2009) 'Crisis and the Reform of International Financial Regulation', 1-18 in Helleiner, E., Pagliari, S. and Zimmermann, H. (eds.), *Global Finance in Crisis. The Politics of International Regulatory Change*. London: Routledge.

(2011). 'The End of an Era in International Financial Regulation? A Post-Crisis Research Agenda', *International Organization*, 65(3): 169-200.

HANSON S., KASHYAP A., and STEIN J. (2011) 'A Macroprudential Approach to Financial Regulation', *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 25(1): 3–28.

HODSON, D. and MABBETT, D. (2009) 'UK Economic Policy and the Global Financial Crisis: Paradigm Lost?', *Journal of Common Market Studies* 47(5): 1041–1061.

HOWARTH, D. and QUAGLIA, L. (2013), 'Banking on Stability: The political economy of new capital requirements in the European Union', *Journal of European Integration* 3(3): 333-346.

IMF (ELECTRONIC DATA) (2014) Data on national GDP values. Available from http://www.imf.org/external/data.htm (Last accessed 1 May).

JENKINS, P. and WILSON, J. (2010) 'Germany accused of reneging on bank tests', *Financial Times* 25 July.

JOHNSON, R. B., ONWUEGBUZIE, A. J. and TURNER, L. A. (2007) 'Toward a Definition of Mixed Methods Research', *Journal of Mixed Methods Research* 1(2): 112-133.

JOINT CONSULTATION GERMANY AND FRANCE (2013) 'Consultation on reforming the structure of the EU banking sector Joint German and French response', July.

JONES, C. (2011) 'Sweden to impose Basel III early', Financial Times 27 November.

JONES, E. (2014) 'Global Banking Standards and Low Income Countries: Helping or Hindering Effective Regulation?' *GEG Working Series*, 2014/91.

KANE, E. J. (2007) 'Connecting National Safety Nets: The Dialectics of the Basel II Contracting Process', Working paper, 6 August.

KAPSTEIN, E. B. (1989) 'Resolving the regulator's dilemma: international coordination of banking regulations', *International Organization*, 43(2), 323-347.

(1992) 'Between Power and Purpose: Central Bankers and the Politics of Regulatory Convergence' *International Organization* 46(1): 265-287.

(2006) 'Architects of stability? International cooperation among financial supervisors', BIS Working Papers No. 199.

KING, R. G. and LEVINE, R. (1993) 'Finance and Growth: Schumpeter Might Be Right', *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 108 (3): 717-737.

LABROSSE, J. R., RODRIG, O. A. and SINGH, D. (2013) *Financial Crisis Containment And Government Guarantees*, Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.

LALL, R. (2012) 'From failure to failure: The politics of international banking regulation', *Review of International Political Economy* 9(4): 609-638.

LALL, R. (2014) 'Timing as a source of regulatory influence: A technical elite network analysis of global finance', *Regulation and Governance*.

LEBOR, A. (2013) Tower of Basel, New York: Public Affairs (Perseus Books Group).

LEVRING, P. and CARLSTROM, J. (2013) 'Swedish Banks Get No Mercy as EU Agenda Ignored: Nordic Credit', Bloomberg 20 May. Available from <http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2013-05-20/swedish-banks-get-no-mercy-as-eu-agendaignored-nordic-credit.html> (Last accessed 1 May).

LYNGEN, N. (2012) 'Basel III: Dynamics of State Implementation', *Harvard International Law Journal* 53(2): 519-549.

MARTIN, I. (2013) *Making it Happen: Fred Goodwin, RBS and the Men Who Blew Up the British Economy,* London: Simon and Schuster.

MASTERS, B. (2012) 'UK banks the 'best prepared' for Basel III', Financial Times 21 June.

MASTERS, B. (2013a) 'Leading banks make big strides on Basel', *Financial Times* 19 March.

(2013b) 'Bailey calls for bank capital transparency', *Financial Times* 31 March.

MATTLI, W. and WOODS, N. (2009) 'In Whose Benefit? Explaining Regulatory Change in Global Politics', 1-44 in Mattli, W. and & Woods, N. (eds.) *The Politics of Global Regulation*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

MISHKIN, F. (2012) The Economics of Money and Banking, London: Pearson Education.

MOSCHELLA, M. and TSINGOU, E. (2013a) 'The Financial Crisis and the Politics of Reform: Explaining Incremental Change', 1-35 in Moschella, M. and Tsingou, E. *Great Expectations and Slow Transformations: Incremental Change in Post-Crisis Regulation*, Colchester: ECPR Press.

(2013b) 'Regulating finance after the crisis: Unveiling the different dynamics of the regulatory process', *Regulation and Governance* 7(4): 407–416.

MURPHY, M., COHEN, N. and MASTERS, B. (2010) 'US banks receive Basel III boost', *Financial Times* 18 August.

NEWMAN, I., RIDENOUR, C. S., NEWMAN, C., and DEMARCO, G. M. P. (2003). 'A typology of research purposes and its relationship to mixed methods' in Tashakkori, A. and Teddlie, C. (eds.). *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

PATNAUDE, A. (2011) 'Coco Bonds Could Shift Investor Base for Bank Debt', *Dow Jones Capital Markets Report* 24 March, (accessed through LexisNexis).

PORTER, T. (2011) 'Third time lucky or out after three strikes? The political significance of the Basel III transnational standards for bank regulation', *The Canadian Political Science Association Meeting*, Waterloo, May 18.

POSNER, E. (2009) 'Making rules for global finance: transatlantic regulatory cooperation at the turn of the millennium', International Organization 63(4): 665–699.

PUTNAM, R. (1988) 'Diplomacy and Domestic Politics: The Logic of Two-Level Games', *International Organization* 42(3): 427-460.

QUAGLIA, L. (2010) *Governing Financial Services in the European Union*, London: Routledge.

(2012a) 'The "old" and "new" politics of financial services regulation in the European Union', *New Political Economy*, 17(4): 515-535.

(2012b) 'Financial Services Governance in the European Union after the Global Financial Crisis: Incremental Changes or Path-Breaking Reform?', 57-77 in Moschella, M. and Tsingou, E. (eds) *Great Expectations and Slow Transformations: Incremental Change in Post-Crisis Regulation*, Colchester: ECPR Press.

(2014) 'The sources of European Union influence in international financial regulatory fora', *Journal of European Public Policy* 21(3): 327-345.

ROSENAU, J. N. (2002) 'Governance in a New Global Order', 70-87 in Held, D. and McGrew, A. *Governing Globalization: Power, Authority and Global Governance*, Cambridge: Polity Press.

(2005) 'Governance in the 21st century', 45-67 in R. Wilkinson (ed.) *The Global Governance Reader*. London: Routledge.

SABEL, C. and ZEITLIN, J. (eds) (2010) *Experimentalist Governance in the European Union: Towards a New Architecture*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

SCHOENMAKER, D. and WERKHOVEN, D. (2012) 'What is the Appropriate Size of the Banking System?' *DSF Policy Paper* 28, October.

SHEARMAN AND STERLING (2011) 'The Vickers Report: What the Recommendations Mean for the Future of Banking in the UK', 5 October 2011.

_____ (2013) 'Vickers Recommendations on Bank Ring-fencing Made Law in the UK', 19 December.

(2014) 'Basel III Framework: Net Stable Funding Ratio (Proposed Standards)', 6 February.

SIMMONS, B. (2001) 'The International Politics of Harmonization: The Case of Capital Market Regulation' *International Organization* 55(3): 589-620.

SINGER, D. A. (2004) 'Capital Rules: The Domestic Politics of International Regulatory Harmonization', *International Organization* 58 (3): 531-65.

(2007) *Regulating Capital: Setting Standards for the International Financial System*, Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

SOCIAL RESEARCH ASSOCIATION (2003) 'Ethical guidelines'. Available at <<u>http://the-</u>sra.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/ethics03.pdf> (Last accessed 1 May).

SWISS NATIONAL BANK (SCHWEIZERISCHE NATIONALBANK) (2012) 'Implementing the countercyclical capital buffer in Switzerland: concretising the Swiss National Bank's role', June.

(2013) 'Countercyclical capital buffer: proposal of the Swiss National Bank and decision of the Federal Council', February.

OATLEY, T. and WINECOFF, W. K. (2011) *Research Handbook on Hedge Funds, Private Equity and Alternative Investments,* Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

TANSEY, O. (2007) 'Process Tracing and Elite Interviewing: A Case for Non-probability Sampling', *PS: Political Science and Politics* 40(4): 765-772.

TARULLO, D. K. (2008) *Banking on Basel: The Future of International Financial Regulation*, Washington: Peterson Institute for International Economics.

TASHAKKORI, A. and TEDDLIE, C. (eds.). (2013) *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research*. London: Sage.

EUROPEAN BANKING AUTHORITY (2014) 'Missions and Tasks'. Available from <<u>http://www.eba.europa.eu/about-us/missions-and-tasks</u>> (Last accessed 1 May).

THE INDEPENDENT COMMISSION ON BANKING (THE "VICKERS COMMISSION") (2011) 'Final Report Recommendations', September.

(2013) 'The Independent Commission on Banking: The Vickers Report', December.

THOMAS, L. (2014) 'France, Germany urge ring-fencing, not ban of proprietary trading', *Reuters* 27 January. Available from

<<u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/01/27/france-germany-idUSL5N0L11S920140127></u> (Last accessed 1 May).

THOMPSON, C. (2014) 'Coco bond feeding frenzy sends yields tumbling', *Financial Times* 26 March.

THOMPSON, C. AND ROSS, A. (2014) 'EU banks binge on capital to avoid stress test failure', *Financial Times* 6 May.

TOPPER, K. (2005) The Disorder of Political Inquiry, Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

UNITED KINGDOM. 1998. Data Protection Act. Available from <<u>http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/29/contents> (Last accessed 1 May).</u>

WALTER, A. 2008. *Governing Finance: East Asia's Adoption of International Standards*, Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

WATT, M. (2013) 'Double trouble: UK banks face threat of twin ringfences', *Risk Magazine* 25 March. Available from: <<u>http://www.risk.net/risk-magazine/feature/2256746/double-</u>trouble-uk-banks-face-threat-of-twin-ringfences> (Last accessed 1 May).

WEISS, T. G. and THAKUR, R. (2010) *Global Governance and the United Nations: An Unfinished Journey*, Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

WILF, M. (2012) 'A Stake in the International: US Banks and Basel III Regulatory Announcements', *Annual Meeting of the International Political Economy Society,* Charlottesville, VA, November.

WILSON, G.K. (2012) 'The United States" The Strange Survival of (Neo)Liberalism', 51-67 in Grant, W. and Wilson, G. K. (eds) *The Consequences of the Global Financial Crisis: The Rhetoric of Reform and Regulation*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

WILSON, G. K. and GRANT, W. (2012) 'Introduction', 1-15 in Grant, W. and Wilson, G. K. (eds) *The Consequences of the Global Financial Crisis: The Rhetoric of Reform and Regulation*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

WOLFSON, M. H. AND EPSTEIN, G. A. (2013) 'Introduction: The Political Economy of Financial Crises', 1-21 in Wolfson, M. H. and Epstein, G. A. (eds.) *The Handbook of the Political Economy of Financial Crises*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

WOOD, D. (2005) Governing Global Banking, Aldershot: Ashgate.

WOODS, N. 2002. 'Global governance and the role of institutions', 24-45 in Held, D. and McGrew, A. (eds.) *Governing Globalization: Power, Authority, and Global Governance*, Cambridge: Polity Press.

WORLD BANK (2005). 'Measuring Banking Sector Development', *Financial Sector Development Indicators: Comprehensive Assessment Through Enhanced Information Capacity, Financial Sector Operations and Policy.*

YOUNG, K. L. and HO PARK, S. (2014) 'Regulatory opportunism: cross-national patterns in national banking regulatory responses following the global financial crisis', *Public Administration* 91(3): 561–581.

YOUNG, K. L. (2012) 'Transnational Regulatory Capture? An empirical examination of the transnational lobbying of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision', *Review of International Political Economy* 19 (4): 663-88.

(2014) 'Losing abroad but winning at home: European financial industry groups in global financial governance since the crisis', *Journal of European Public Policy* 21(3): 367-388.

ZIMMERMANN, H. (2010) 'Varieties of global financial governance? British and German approaches to financial market regulation', 121-137. in Helleiner, S., Pagliari, S. and Zimmermann, H. *Global finance in crisis*, London: Routledge

Working Papers

The following GEG Working Papers can be downloaded at

www.globaleconomicgovernance.org/working-papers

| Jure Jeric | WP 2015/99 Managing risks, preventing crises - a political economy account of Basel III financial regulations |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| Anar Ahmadov | WP 2014/98 Blocking the Pathway Out of the Resource Curse: What Hinders Diversification in Resource-Rich Developing Countries? |
| Mohammad Mossallam | WP 2015/97 Process matters: South Africa's Experience Exiting its BITs |
| Geoffrey Gertz | WP 2015/96 Understanding the Interplay of Diplomatic, Insurance and Legal Approaches for Protecting FDI |
| Emily Jones | WP 2014/95 When Do 'Weak' States Win? A History of African, Caribbean and Pacific Countries Manoeuvring in Trade Negotiations with Europe |
| Taylor St John | WP 2014/94 The Origins of Advance Consent |
| Carolyn Deere Birkbeck | WP 2014/93 The Governance of the World Intellectual Property Organization: A Reference Guide |
| Tu Anh Vu Thanh | WP 2014/92 WTO Accession and the Political Economy of State-Owned Enterprise Reform in Vietnam |
| Emily Jones | WP 2014/91 Global Banking Standards and Low Income Countries: Helping or Hindering Effective Regulation? |
| Ranjit Lall | WP 2014/90 The Distributional Consequences of International Finance: An Analysis of Regulatory Influence |
| Ngaire Woods | WP 2014/89 Global Economic Governance after the 2008 Crisis |
| Folashadé Soule-Kohndou | WP 2013/88 The India-Brazil-South Africa Forum - A Decade On: Mismatched Partners or the Rise of the South? |
| Nilima Gulrajani | WP 2013/87 An Analytical Framework for Improving Aid Effectiveness Policies |
| Rahul Prabhakar | WP 2013/86 Varieties of Regulation: How States Pursue and Set International Financial Standards |
| Alexander Kupatadze | WP 2013/85 Moving away from corrupt equilibrium: 'big bang' push factors and progress maintenance |
| George Gray Molina | WP 2013/84 Global Governance Exit: A Bolivian Case Study |
| Steven L. Schwarcz | WP 2013/83 Shadow Banking, Financial Risk, and Regulation in China and Other Developing Countries |
| Pichamon Yeophantong | WP 2013/82 China, Corporate Responsibility and the Contentious Politics of Hydropower Development: transnational activism in the Mekong region? |
| Pichamon Yeophantong | WP 2013/81 China and the Politics of Hydropower Development: governing water and contesting responsibilities in the Mekong River Basin |
| Rachael Burke and Devi Sridhar | WP 2013/80 Health financing in Ghana, South Africa and Nigeria: Are they meeting the Abuja target? |
| Dima Noggo Sarbo | WP 2013/79 The Ethiopia-Eritrea Conflict: Domestic and Regional Ramifications and the Role of the International Community |
| Dima Noggo Sarbo | WP 2013/78 Reconceptualizing Regional Integration in Africa: The European Model and Africa's Priorities |
| Abdourahmane Idrissa | WP 2013/77 Divided Commitment: UEMOA, the Franc Zone, and ECOWAS |
| Abdourahmane Idrissa | WP 2013/76 Out of the Penkelemes: The ECOWAS Project as Transformation |
| Pooja Sharma | WP 2013/75 Role of Rules and Relations in Global Trade Governance |
| Le Thanh Forsberg | WP 2013/74 The Political Economy of Health Care Commercialization in Vietnam |
| Hongsheng Ren | WP 2013/73 Enterprise Hegemony and Embedded Hierarchy Network: The Political Economy and Process of Global Compact Governance in China |
| Devi Sridhar and Ngaire Woods | WP2013/72 'Trojan Multilateralism: Global Cooperation in Health' |
| Valéria Guimarães de Lima e Silva | WP2012/71 'International Regime Complexity and Enhanced Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights: The Use of Networks at the Multilateral Level' |
| Ousseni Illy | WP2012/70 'Trade Remedies in Africa: Experience, Challenges and Prospects' |

| Carolyn Deere Birckbeck and Emily Jones | WP2012/69 'Beyond the Eighth Ministerial Conference of the WTO: A Forward Looking Agenda for Development' |
|---|--|
| Devi Sridhar and Kate Smolina | WP2012/68' Motives behind national and regional approaches to health and foreign policy' |
| Omobolaji Olarinmoye | WP2011/67 'Accountability in Faith-Based Organizations in Nigeria: Preliminary Explorations' |
| Ngaire Woods | WP2011/66 'Rethinking Aid Coordination' |
| Paolo de Renzio | WP2011/65 'Buying Better Governance: The Political Economy of Budget Reforms in Aid-Dependent Countries' |
| Carolyn Deere Birckbeck | WP2011/64 'Development-oriented Perspectives on Global Trade Governance: A Summary of Proposals for Making Global Trade Governance Work for Development' |
| Carolyn Deere Birckbeck and Meg Harbourd | WP2011/63 'Developing Country Coalitions in the WTO: Strategies for Improving the Influence of the WTO's Weakest and Poorest Members' |
| Leany Lemos | WP 2011/62 'Determinants of Oversight in a Reactive Legislature: The Case of Brazil, 1988 – 2005' |
| Valéria Guimarães de Lima e Silva | WP 2011/61 'Sham Litigation in the Pharmaceutical Sector'. |
| Michele de Nevers | WP 2011/60 'Climate Finance - Mobilizing Private Investment to Transform Development.' |
| Ngaire Woods | WP 2010/59 ' The G20 Leaders and Global Governance' |
| Leany Lemos | WP 2010/58 'Brazilian Congress and Foreign Affairs: Abdication or Delegation?' |
| Leany Lemos & Rosara Jospeh | WP 2010/57 'Parliamentarians' Expenses Recent Reforms: a briefing on Australia, Canada, United Kingdom and Brazil' |
| Nilima Gulrajani | WP 2010/56 'Challenging Global Accountability: The Intersection of Contracts and Culture in the World Bank' |
| Devi Sridhar & Eduardo Gómez | WP 2009/55 'Comparative Assessment of Health Financing in Brazil, Russia and India: Unpacking Budgetary Allocations in Health' |
| Ngaire Woods | WP 2009/54 'Global Governance after the Financial Crisis: A new multilateralism or the last gasp of the great powers? |
| Arunabha Ghosh and Kevin Watkins | WP 2009/53 'Avoiding dangerous climate change – why financing for technology transfer matters' |
| Ranjit Lall | WP 2009/52 'Why Basel II Failed and Why Any Basel III is Doomed' |
| Arunabha Ghosh and Ngaire Woods | WP 2009/51 'Governing Climate Change: Lessons from other Governance Regimes' |
| Carolyn Deere - Birkbeck | WP 2009/50 'Reinvigorating Debate on WTO Reform: The Contours of a Functional and Normative Approach to Analyzing the WTO System' |
| Matthew Stilwell | WP 2009/49 'Improving Institutional Coherence: Managing Interplay Between Trade and Climate Change' |
| Carolyn Deere | WP 2009/48 'La mise en application de l'Accord sur les ADPIC en Afrique francophone' |
| Hunter Nottage | WP 2009/47 'Developing Countries in the WTO Dispute Settlement System' |
| Ngaire Woods | WP 2008/46 'Governing the Global Economy: Strengthening Multilateral Institutions' (Chinese version) |
| Nilima Gulrajani | WP 2008/45 'Making Global Accountability Street-Smart: Re-conceptualizing Dilemmas and Explaining Dynamics' |
| Alexander Betts | WP 2008/44 'International Cooperation in the Global Refugee Regime' |
| Alexander Betts | WP 2008/43 'Global Migration Governance' |
| Alastair Fraser and Lindsay Whitfield | WP 2008/42 'The Politics of Aid: African Strategies for Dealing with Donors' |
| Isaline Bergamaschi | WP 2008/41 'Mali: Patterns and Limits of Donor-Driven Ownership' |
| Arunabha Ghosh | WP 2008/40 'Information Gaps, Information Systems, and the WTO's Trade Policy Review Mechanism' |
| Devi Sridhar and Rajaie Batniji | WP 2008/39 'Misfinancing Global Health: The Case for Transparency in Disbursements and Decision-Making' |
| W. Max Corden, Brett House and David Vines | WP 2008/38 'The International Monetary Fund: Retrospect and Prospect in a Time of Reform' |
| Domenico Lombardi | WP 2008/37 'The Corporate Governance of the World Bank Group' |
| Ngaire Woods | WP 2007/36 'The Shifting Politics of Foreign Aid' |

| Devi Sridhar and Rajaie Batniji | WP 2007/35 'Misfinancing Global Health: The Case for Transparency in Disbursements and Decision-Making' |
|--|---|
| Louis W. Pauly | WP 2007/34 'Political Authority and Global Finance: Crisis Prevention in Europe and Beyond' |
| Mayur Patel | WP 2007/33 'New Faces in the Green Room: Developing Country Coalitions and Decision Making in the WTO' |
| Lindsay Whitfield and Emily Jones | WP 2007/32 'Ghana: Economic Policymaking and the Politics of Aid Dependence' (revised October 2007) |
| Isaline Bergamaschi | WP 2007/31 'Mali: Patterns and Limits of Donor-driven Ownership' |
| Alastair Fraser | WP 2007/30 'Zambia: Back to the Future?' |
| Graham Harrison and Sarah Mulley | WP 2007/29 'Tanzania: A Genuine Case of Recipient Leadership in the Aid System?' |
| Xavier Furtado and W. James Smith | WP 2007/28 'Ethiopia: Aid, Ownership, and Sovereignty' |
| Clare Lockhart | WP 2007/27 'The Aid Relationship in Afghanistan: Struggling for Government Leadership' |
| Rachel Hayman | WP 2007/26 "Milking the Cow": Negotiating Ownership of Aid and Policy in Rwanda' |
| Paolo de Renzio and Joseph Hanlon | WP 2007/25 'Contested Sovereignty in Mozambique: The Dilemmas of Aid Dependence' |
| Lindsay Whitfield | WP 2006/24 'Aid's Political Consequences: the Embedded Aid System in Ghana' |
| Alastair Fraser | WP 2006/23 'Aid-Recipient Sovereignty in Global Governance' |
| David Williams | WP 2006/22 "Ownership," Sovereignty and Global Governance' |
| Paolo de Renzio and Sarah Mulley | WP 2006/21 'Donor Coordination and Good Governance: Donor-led and Recipient-led Approaches' |
| Andrew Eggers, Ann Florini, and Ngaire Woods | WP 2005/20 'Democratizing the IMF' |
| Ngaire Woods and Research Team | WP 2005/19 'Reconciling Effective Aid and Global Security: Implications for the Emerging International Development Architecture' |
| Sue Unsworth | WP 2005/18 'Focusing Aid on Good Governance' |
| Ngaire Woods and Domenico Lombardi | WP 2005/17 'Effective Representation and the Role of Coalitions Within the IMF' |
| Dara O'Rourke | WP 2005/16 'Locally Accountable Good Governance: Strengthening Non- Governmental Systems of Labour Regulation'. |
| John Braithwaite | WP 2005/15 'Responsive Regulation and Developing Economics'. |
| David Graham and Ngaire Woods | WP 2005/14 'Making Corporate Self-Regulation Effective in Developing Countries'. |
| Sandra Polaski | WP 2004/13 'Combining Global and Local Force: The Case of Labour Rights in Cambodia' |
| Michael Lenox | WP 2004/12 'The Prospects for Industry Self-Regulation of Environmental Externalities' |
| Robert Repetto | WP 2004/11 'Protecting Investors and the Environment through Financial Disclosure' |
| Bronwen Morgan | WP 2004/10 'Global Business, Local Constraints: The Case of Water in South Africa' |
| Andrew Walker | WP 2004/09 'When do Governments Implement Voluntary Codes and Standards? The Experience of Financial Standards and Codes in East Asia' |
| Jomo K.S. | WP 2004/08 'Malaysia's Pathway through Financial Crisis' |
| Cyrus Rustomjee | WP 2004/07 'South Africa's Pathway through Financial Crisis' |
| Arunabha Ghosh | WP 2004/06 'India's Pathway through Financial Crisis' |
| Calum Miller | WP 2004/05 'Turkey's Pathway through Financial Crisis' |
| Alexander Zaslavsky and Ngaire Woods | WP 2004/04 'Russia's Pathway through Financial Crisis' |
| Leonardo Martinez-Diaz | WP 2004/03 'Indonesia's Pathway through Financial Crisis' |
| Brad Setser and Anna Gelpern | WP 2004/02 'Argentina's Pathway through Financial Crisis' |
| Ngaire Woods | WP 2004/01 'Pathways through Financial Crises: Overview' |
| | |

The Global Economic Governance Programme was established in 2003 to foster research and debate into how global markets and institutions can better serve the needs of people in developing countries. The program is co-hosted by University College and the Blavatnik School of Government.

The three core objectives of the Programme are:

- to conduct and foster research into international organizations and markets as well as new publicprivate governance regimes
- to create and develop a network of scholars and policy-makers working on these issues
- to influence debate and policy in both the public and the private sector in developed and developing countries





www.globaleconomicgovernance.org